Northeastern Mosquito Control Association, Inc.



Bylaws

Merged and Accepted by Membership Vote December 9, 2024

ARTICLE I

NAME and PRINCIPAL OFFICE

SECTION 1

This Association shall be known as the **Northeastern Mosquito Control Association, Inc.**

SECTION 2

The principal office of the Association shall be any place that the Executive Board may designate within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

SECTION 3

This Association shall be a non-profit, educational organization.

ARTICLE II

OBJECTIVE AND PURPOSES

SECTION 1

This Association's objective and purposes shall be;

- 1. To promote the efficiency of mosquito abatement and related activities through the encouragement of research, development of procedure, and the exchange of information.
- 2. To circulate among its members and other interested parties, pertinent knowledge relative to mosquito abatement and related subjects.
- 3. To encourage field trips and meetings of the members.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP AND DUES

SECTION 1

Anyone concerned with or interested in mosquito abatement and related work may become a member in the Association under one of the three (3) following categories: REGULAR, HONORARY and LIFE.

SECTION 2

The following classes of membership shall be recognized:

REGULAR MEMBERS shall be eligible to vote and hold office, and they shall pay an annual fee as recommended by the Executive Board and approved by the membership at the annual meeting.

(Amended: 2 October 1989)

HONORARY MEMBERS are permanent, non-dues paying members, elected in recognition of outstanding contributions to the field and shall have the same privileges as Regular members.

LIFE MEMBERS shall be eligible to vote and to hold office and they shall pay at the beginning of their lifetime membership a single fee as recommended by the Executive Board and approved by the membership at the annual meeting.

(Amended: 2 October 1989)

SECTION 3

Nomination of candidates for membership as Honorary or Life members shall be made by two (2) members, in good standing, for consideration and election by the Ad-Hoc Membership Committee.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP AND DUES (continued)

SECTION 4

- 1. The fiscal year shall be from November 1st to October 31st, and dues are payable on the 1st of January. On the 1st of June, any unpaid dues shall be declared in arrears, and delinquent members shall be declared not in good standing until such arrears are paid.
- 2. Membership in the Association shall be from annual meeting to annual meeting.

SECTION 5

A member in good standing may resign from membership by submitting a written resignation to the Secretary, and a member who does not resign and whose dues remain unpaid for one fiscal year shall be dropped from membership.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

SECTION 1

The Officers of this Association shall consist of:

- 1. A President, a 1st Vice-President and a 2nd Vice-President, who shall be elected for terms of two (2) years each.
- 2. A Secretary and a Treasurer, who shall be elected for terms of three (3) years each.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS (continued)

SECTION 2

Directors shall consist of the following:

- Three members, other than the officers, who shall serve as directors on the Executive Board: 1 for 1 year, 1 for 2 years, 1 for 3 years. After the first election there will be only one elected each year for a term of three (3) years, replacing the 1year member whose term expires.
- An Industry Representative, who shall be elected for a term of three (3) years. (Amended: 6 December 1999)

3. A Director of Communications, who shall be elected for a term of three (3) years.

(Amended: 2 December 2009)

4. The immediate Past President who shall serve for a term of (2) years.

SECTION 3

Officers and Directors shall be elected and installed at the annual meeting by a majority of those Regular, Honorary and Life members present and voting.

SECTION 4

All Officers and Directors shall continue to hold office until their successors have been duly elected and installed.

SECTION 5

No President shall succeed him or herself for more than one term.

ARTICLE V EXECUTIVE BOARD

SECTION 1

The Executive Board shall consist of all the elected Officers, Directors, and the immediate Past President, and five (5) shall constitute a quorum for any meeting of this Board.

ARTICLE VI

POWERS AND DUTIES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

SECTION 1

The Executive Board or general administration Officers of the Association are directly responsible to the membership and shall consist of the President, who shall serve as Chair of the Board; the 1st Vice-President, 2nd Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, the immediate Past President, an Industry Representative, the Director of Communications, and three (3) other members who have been elected to the Board. (Amended: 2 December 2009)

- This Executive Board shall also be responsible for the consideration on an annual basis of scholarships and/or grants of assistance as recommended by the Scholarship Committee in an amount as deemed appropriate by the NMCA Treasurer. A majority vote of the Executive Board members present and voting shall be required for adoption. (Amended: 27 November 2006)
- 2. The three (3) elected members to the Executive Board, the immediate Past President, the Industry Representative and the Director of Communications shall attend meetings and assist the Officers in making decisions and formulation of policy for the good of the Association.

 (Amended 2 December 2009)

ARTICLE VI

POWERS AND DUTIES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

SECTION 2

The President shall be responsible for the functioning of the following committees (Chair) and make periodic reports of their activities and progress to the Executive Board and to the membership at the Association's Annual Meeting.

ADVISORY ~ NOMINATING ~ SCHOLARSHIP (Amended: 1 December 2003)

SECTION 3

The 1st Vice-President shall assist the President in work delegated to him/her and perform the duties of the President whenever the latter is absent. The 1st Vice-President when acting as President may delegate some of his/her duties to another member.

The 1st Vice-President shall be responsible for the functioning of the following committees (Chair) and make periodic reports of their activities and progress to the Executive Board and to the membership at the Associations Annual Meeting.

(Amended: 1 December 2003)

BYLAWS ~ PROGRAM

SECTION 4

The 2nd Vice-President shall be responsible for the functioning of the following committees (Chair) and make periodic reports of their activities and progress to the Executive Board and to the membership at the Association's Annual Meeting.

AUDITING ~ PUBLICATIONS

ARTICLE VI

POWERS AND DUTIES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS (continued)

SECTION 5

The immediate Past President shall be responsible for the functioning of the following committees (Chair) and make periodic reports of their activities and progress to the Executive Board and to the membership at the Association's Annual Meeting.

CHARITABLE ~ OUTREACH AND EDUCATION (Amended: 2 December 2009)

SECTION 6

The Treasurer shall receive and record all monies of the Association; make disbursements as authorized by the Executive Board; prepare the annual financial statement for the fiscal year and prepare budget estimates for the next fiscal year. The Treasurer shall make periodic reports to the Executive Board and the membership at the Association's Annual Meeting.

SECTION 7

The Secretary shall send notices for annual and special meetings; record all proceedings at meetings of the Association; send out notices of all proposed amendments to the Constitution and/or Bylaws; turn over all monies to the Treasurer for deposit and receive receipts for same.

SECTION 8

The Industry Representative shall assist with the responsibilities for the functioning of the Exhibits Committee such as making periodic reports of the Committee's activities including all matters regarding the Association's exhibits and exhibitors.

ARTICLE VI

POWERS AND DUTIES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS (continued)

SECTION 9

The Director of Communications shall assist with the responsibilities for the functioning of the Publications Committee such as making periodic reports of the Committee's activities including all matters regarding the membership, newsletter, website and Proceedings in creation, distribution and submissions.

ARTICLE VII NOMINATION of OFFICERS

SECTION 1

The Nominating Committee shall canvass the membership and submit one nomination for each office to be filled by election.

SECTION 2

Additional nominations may be made from the floor at the time the election is held.

ARTICLE VIII ELECTION of OFFICERS

SECTION 1

Elections shall be held annually, the place and date of elections to be determined by the Executive Board, and only Regular, Honorary and Life members in good standing shall be eligible to participate.

ARTICLE VIII ELECTION of OFFICERS

SECTION 2

All elected officers shall be chosen by a majority of votes cast, and each Regular, Honorary and Life member in good standing shall be entitled to cast one ballot in each contest. (Amended 2 December 2009)

SECTION 3

A member of the Executive Board may be removed from office when the majority of the Board agrees that sufficient cause exists for such removal. Vacancies occurring in office between annual meetings shall be filled by the Executive Board, except that a vacancy in the office of President shall automatically be filled by the 1st Vice-President.

(Amended 2 December 2009)

ARTICLE IX EXECUTIVE BOARD CONDUCT

SECTION 1

- In the transaction of Executive Board business, all communications shall be addressed to the Chair of the Executive Board.
- 2. Every written motion addressed by an Executive Board member to the Chair, shall be duplicated and a copy furnished to each member of the Executive Board.

ARTICLE IX EXECUTIVE BOARD CONDUCT

SECTION 1 (continued)

- 3. Any Executive Board member desiring to second; to dissent from; to comment upon; to move an amendment to; or to move a substitute for the original motion, shall do so in written communication addressed to the Chair, of which a copy shall be sent to each member of the Executive Board.
- 4. If a written motion is seconded and approved by every other member of the Executive Board, the Chair without further action may declare the motion carried unanimously and so notify the members of the Executive Board in written form.
- If one or more seconds to a written motion is received by the Chair but unanimous consent is not indicated, the motion remains open for discussion until there is a call for the question.

(Amended 2 December 2009)

6. A meeting of the Executive Board may be called by the President or upon the request of three (3) or more members of the Board. At any time that the President feels that an emergency exists, he / she may call the Board to meet by telephone or other means.

ARTICLE X ANNUAL MEETING

SECTION 1

There shall be one Annual Meeting, the time and place to be determined by the Executive Board. There shall also be such other meetings as may be designated by the Executive Board.

ARTICLE XI

QUORUM ~ VOTING of MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1

A quorum shall consist of ten (10) voting members, three (3) of whom shall be Officers.

SECTION 2

Voting and holding of office shall be restricted to Regular, Honorary and Life members in good standing.

ARTICLE XII

APPOINTMENT of COMMITTEES

SECTION 1

There shall be the following Standing Committees, consisting of at least three (3) members:

- 1. Advisory: consists of at least nine (9) members, not more than one (1) from any state.
- 2. Auditing
- 3. Bylaws
- 4. Charitable
- 5. Nominating
- 6. Outreach and Education
- 7. Program
- 8. Publications
- 9. Scholarships and Awards (Amended 2 December 2009)

ARTICLE XII

APPOINTMENT of COMMITTEES (continued)

SECTION 2

Standing committee members shall be appointed by the Chair unless otherwise ordered by the Association. The terms of all committees shall expire at the end of the next annual meeting, unless otherwise specified by the vote of the Association.

- 1. The Chair of all standing committees shall make periodic reports of their activities and progress to the President.
- 2. The Chair of all standing committees shall submit annual reports of the activities of their committee directly to the President or Vice-President and the Secretary.
- 3. A quorum for all standing committees shall be a majority of the committee as constituted.

ARTICLE XIII COLLABORATION

SECTION 1

The Association shall collaborate with other organizations and agencies in matters of mutual concern.

SECTION 2

As a medium of such collaboration there shall be an Advisory Committee.

SECTION 3

Meetings of the Advisory Committee shall be called by its Chair in the manner most convenient for its members.

ARTICLE XIV

SECTION 1

The funds of the Association shall be collected, entered, disbursed and accounted for by the Treasurer and as prescribed by the Bylaws (ARTICLE VI, Section 6). In the event of asset liquidation all remaining funds shall be transferred to the New Jersey Mosquito Control Association, Inc.

(Amended: 16 November 1992)

SECTION 2

Dues of the Association shall be assessed to each member as prescribed by the Bylaws. (ARTICLE III, Section 2).

ARTICLE XV RESOLUTIONS

SECTION 1

Resolutions shall be submitted, by members in good standing, to the Secretary who will refer them to the Ad-Hoc Committee on Resolutions and a majority vote of the members present and voting shall be required for adoption.

ARTICLE XVI AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1

These Bylaws may be amended at any Annual Meeting of the Association. All proposals for amendments must be submitted, in writing, to the Secretary for referral to the Executive Board and the Standing Committee on Bylaws, at least four (4) months before the date of the next annual meeting.

ARTICLE XVI AMENDMENTS

SECTION 2

The Secretary shall make a true copy of the proposed amendment available to each voting member, at least 30 days before the next annual meeting.

- A two-thirds affirmative vote of those members present at the next annual business meeting and voting thereon shall be required for passage. (Amended 2 December 2009)
- 2. These Bylaws may also be amended at any annual meeting of the Association, without previous notice, by a three-fourths affirmative vote of those members present and voting thereon.

ARTICLE XVII PUBLICATIONS

SECTION 1

- Publications. The NMCA shall publish the proceedings of its annual meeting and maintain a website as its electronic outlet. The NMCA may occasionally publish, as needs warrant: news letters, special bulletins and other publications.
- Publications Committee. This committee shall consist of the Director of Communications and at least two (2) other members. The Publications Committee shall be responsible for all NMCA publications as well as maintaining the NMCA website.

ARTICLE XVIII PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

SECTION 1

The rules outlined in Robert's "Parliamentary Law" and Robert's "Rules of Order, Revised" shall govern the Association procedure in instances where they are applicable.

Article XIX CODE OF CONDUCT

SECTION 1

All NMCA members and participants in NMCA activities, including the annual meeting, shall be required to abide by the NMCA's code of conduct. The goal of the code shall be to set standards for professional behavior and inclusivity within the NMCA organization and at all its events. The code of conduct shall be reviewed by the Board periodically and updated as needed. The Code of Conduct shall be published in the appendix of the bylaws.

APPENDIX A

All votes of acceptance of amendments to these bylaws are available in the NMCA Business Meeting minutes of the corresponding year of amendment – please check the NMCA Proceedings for a copy.

**Note: The NMCA Constitution and Bylaws were combined in 2012 to form a single governing document now known as the NMCA Bylaws. All original documents, including the Constitution and Bylaws, have been archived for reference and are available on request.

APPENDIX B

Code of Conduct for NMCA Conferences, Events, Online Engagement, and Project Participation

The Northeastern Mosquito Control Association is dedicated to providing a harassment-free experience for everyone attending or participating in the organization or its events. We do not tolerate harassment of people in any form, and we empower all participants in our community to actively engage in creating a friendly and safe environment for all.

This Code of Conduct is part of NMCA's mission to champion evidence-based science, education, and public health. NMCA is committed to advancing equity as a foundational and essential value in all our work. This value is essential to the practice of science, technology, and innovation which requires seeking out and engaging a diversity of peoples, ideas, perspectives, life experiences, disciplines, knowledge systems, and approaches. NMCA values and celebrates contributions, discoveries, and novel solutions, regardless of their source. When all people are welcomed and respected, our association will be more equitable and resilient. Our world is rich in diversity, and NMCA embraces all diverse groups, including but not limited to, people of all

17

races, colors, religions, political affiliations, sexual orientations, genders, ages, familial histories of education, physical and cognitive abilities, languages used, Indigenous status, and countries of origin.

As an attendee, presenter, exhibitor, sponsor, or guest at the NMCA Annual Conference and other events or programs organized by NMCA, I will:

- Conduct myself with integrity, respect, honesty, and credibility.
- Approach all events and interactions in accordance with the highest ethical standards of professionalism and personal conduct.
- Avoid all activities that will cause damage to or discredit the NMCA, or myself.
- Embrace NMCA's diverse community of professionals and learners, and be inclusive of all audiences in my presentations, demonstrations, and conversations.
- Seek help from NMCA staff if I do not know how to fulfill any of the stated actions.

This Code of Conduct is in place to protect the safety of all participants involved with NMCA activities. Contact, language, or imagery of a violent, threatening, sexual, discriminatory, demeaning, or disruptive nature is not appropriate for any inperson or online conference or project venue, including talks, workshops, parties, and online forum or media. Please report violations to any NMCA staff or board member. Reporting can be done either in person or via email.

NMCA leadership, at their sole discretion, may take action to redress anything disrupting the event or project making the environment unsafe for participants, including asking any individuals to leave the event or project at their own expense and without a refund of any fees paid.

NORTHEASTERN MOSQUITO CONTROL ASSOCIATION, INC.

Bylaws